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Friday, March 28, 2008

--- On commencing at 9:03 a.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  Good morning, everyone.


On November 2nd, 2007, the Ontario Power Authority filed with the Ontario Energy Board its proposed 2008 expenditure, the revenue requirement, and fees for review pursuant to subsection 25.21(1) of the Electricity Act.  The Board has assigned number EB-2007-0791 to this application.  


The Board had originally planned to hear a settlement proposal from parties today, but we understand that no settlement has been reached and we will schedule hearing dates for a full hearing of the issues.


On March 18th, 2008, Pollution Probe filed a motion seeking more extensive replies to several interrogatories.  The Board will hear submissions on Pollution Probe's motion this morning.


Before we do that, there is one matter to be addressed.  The Panel has been provided with correspondence from the Chair -- from counsel for GEC to the Chair of the Board, which expresses concerns with the composition of the Panel.  The Panel has reviewed these concerns, and, after careful consideration, the Board has decided that no change in composition of the Panel is necessary.  


May I have appearances, please?

Appearances


MR. CASS:  Good morning, Madam Chairman.  Fred Cass for the Ontario Power Authority.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.


MR. ALEXANDER:  Basil Alexander, counsel for Pollution Probe.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Alexander.


MR. POCH:  David Poch, counsel for GEC, Pembina and OECA.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Poch.


MR. MEYER:  David Meyer from Ontario Power Generation.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Meyer.


MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, Madam Chair, Mr. Vlahos.  Michael Millar, counsel for Board Staff.  With me are Zora Crnojacki and Josh Wasylyk.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  Mr. Alexander, do you wish to begin?

Submissions by Mr. Alexander: 


MR. ALEXANDER:  Yes, please.  Thank you, Madam Chair.  


Before we begin, there are two documents I will be referring to during my submissions today.  I wish to ensure that the Panel has them.  The first is the motion record.  That was -- paper copies were delivered to the Board on March 18th.  The motion record itself is dated March 17th.


MS. NOWINA:  We have that, Mr. Alexander.


MR. ALEXANDER:  And I distributed last night a small supplementary reference book, which -- paper copies have been provided also to parties in the room today, and I believe Mr. Millar has copies for yourself, as well.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Unless there are any objections, we'll give that an exhibit number, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Yes, let's do that, Mr. Millar.


MR. MILLAR:  KM1.1, and Mr. Wasylyk will bring some copies to you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

EXHIBIT NO. KM1.1:  SUPPLEMENTARY REFERENCE BOOK.


MR. ALEXANDER:  Members of the Panel, Pollution Probe is here today on a motion to seek full and adequate interrogatory responses to Pollution Probe's Interrogatories Nos. 1 to 38, which are questions regarding the local area supply specifically of the northern York Region and in Kitchener-Cambridge-Waterloo-Guelph areas.


The OPA has asserted in its response that it considers these questions to be outside the scope of this proceeding.  However, my submission will be that when you examine your jurisdiction, the nature of the Board's review in this proceeding, as well as the issues for this proceeding, these questions appear to be clearly within the scope of this proceeding and relevant for interrogatories, and the Board should order answers, full and adequate answers, to be provided to us forthwith.


So I'll go through those three things in turn.  I am going to start with the Board's jurisdiction, and the first question is:  What exactly is the Board's jurisdiction for this case?  


If I could take you to the supplementary reference book, Exhibit KM1.1, and ask you to turn to page 1, this is an excerpt of the Electricity Act, 1998, the two sections that are relevant for this proceeding, sections 25.20 and 25.21.  And I'm focussing on 25.21, and particularly the marked-up versions.


In 25.21(1):

"The OPA, when it is submitting its proposed expenditure and revenue requirements for the fiscal year, the fees it proposes to charge, submits it to the Board for review."


The key word there is "for review."  The next part is (2):

"The Board may approve the proposed requirements and proposed fees or may refer them back to the OPA for further consideration with the Board's recommendations."


In my submission, this empowers you to do a fairly -- do your standard review with respect to the OPA's proceedings and the issues that are at play here.  This is reinforced by subsection (4), where it states that:

"The OPA shall not establish, eliminate or change any fees without the approval of the Board."


So the key is "the approval of the Board."


And the question for you is:  How does the Board carry out these things?  And if you turn two pages ahead, you have an excerpt from the Ontario Energy Board Act, section 1(1), specifically the Board objectives regarding electricity.  And the preamble states very clearly:

"The Board, in carrying out its responsibilities under this or any other Act ..." 


Which I submit also applies to the Electricity Act:

"... shall be guided by the following objectives ..."


And then it's:

"The standard objectives to protect the interests of consumers with respect to prices and the adequacy, reliability and quality of electricity service and to promote economic efficiency and cost-effectiveness in the generation, transmission, distribution, sale and demand management of electricity and to facilitate the maintenance of a financially viable electricity industry."


I submit to you that when you read those sections together, the Board does its standard review that it does with respect to all of the applications here, and it is the standard statutory objectives which we are applying here, and you are reviewing it in accordance with your standard statutory objectives.


I submit that this interpretation of your legislative mandate is consistent with the Board's recent decision in the IPSP decisions list -- IPSP decisions.  And the next page in the supplementary reference book, page 4, is the cover page from the decision that came down recently on March 26th, and the next two pages are an excerpt from it.  


And I just want to highlight the part on 66.  Specifically, the Board was discussing what was its mandate and its role with respect to review of the IPSP and the role of section 1(1), and the Board found that its mandate is in sections 25.30(4) and 25.31(4) of the Electricity Act with respect to the IPSP.


And then the Board said:

"The Board agrees that section 1 of the OEB Act informs the Board in the exercise of that mandate."


I submit that this is consistent with the interpretation I provided you regarding your legislative mandate and the role that you are to take when you are reviewing this and the questions that you are supposed to be doing.


The question, then, is:  What is the nature of the Board's review?  And I submit that it is your standard review that you are doing, that you do whenever an applicant appears before the Board for anything that needs to get done.  There is nothing that I have seen that indicates that you do a different review in this case.


And this is reinforced by the statutory provisions I've taken you to, as well as the comments of the Minister of Energy in the Legislative Assembly of Ontario when he introduced the bill for the Electricity Act, and this is the next two pages of the supplementary -- in the supplementary reference book, Exhibit KM1.1, pages 7 and 8.  


And when he introduced the act on page 8, and this was the act that created -- that introduced the significant changes in 2002 with respect to the IESO, the OPA and some other changes to the Board's act.  On page 8 of at the marked section, he states:

"Under the proposed legislation, the Ontario Energy Board would continue to have a strong role in protecting consumers through licensing and rate regulation and would ensure economic efficiency, cost-effectiveness and financial viability of the elements of Ontario's electricity system."


In those comments, he does not appear to limit it to any particular section of the act that he was doing, and the bill that was in question was the schedule A amendments to the Electricity Act and the Schedule B amendments to the Energy Board.  So it appears to apply to both of them, and that seems to be consistent with what was going on there.


And I submit to you that that makes good policy sense.  That make good sense overall, because the Board has expertise in regulating the energy sector and you are the energy regulator, and this is what you do.


And I submit to you that your review - and what we are asking you to do is simply to do your standard review in this case - is the appropriate middle-of-the-road review that the Board usually does.

There are two extremes of review that could be done.  At one extreme you have an extreme micromanaging aspect.  The other extreme is perfunctory, a straight perfunctory review.  In my submission, the Board has always not taken one of those extremes.  The Board has always taken a more middle-of-the-road version.  And in order to do that a certain level of probing must be done.  What that means is ask questions about what is going on, what are the expenditures for, and what are the ultimate results that are going to occur?

Based on what I've taken you so far, there doesn't appear to be a reason that the Board should take a different view when reviewing the OPA application before you in this proceeding or the interrogatories that we are asking you for issues that are in this proceeding.

In my submission, this is analogous to a utility appearing before you and asking to set rates and programs and costs with respect to its rates, because ultimately these fees are recovered from ratepayers in some form, and that is what's going on here.

Again, these are all reasons why the Board's statutory objectives and statutory review are applicable in this case.

It is my further submission that the interrogatories themselves are clearly within the scope of this hearing, given the issues list particularly.

If I could take you to the motion record, tab 2, subtab A.  The issue that is relevant for these questions is issue 1.2 (b):
"Is the budget allocated to the local area supply and CDM activities appropriate?"

This was an uncontested issue on the issues list, and this is the issue that is applicable here. 


In my submission, in order to assess the budget, and in order for you to be able to assess the budget, you need to be able to know what the OPA is doing and what results they are accomplishing and what results are actually occurring after it's all done.  And the Board noted in its Issues Day decision -- and I've included a copy at subtab E, at page 14 of the motion record.  We were discussing megawatt hours at Issues Day, that the Board noted at that time:
"In order to determine if the fees are reasonable, of course some examination of the costs that make up this fee may be necessary."

I submit that that's what you do in your standard review when you are reviewing applications before you.  And that includes looking at results and looking at what actually is going to be accomplished, which is what the interrogatories are seeking to do with respect to 2008.

It's also, in my submission, the reason why parties submit interrogatories as part of this process.  We do some of that probing ahead of time, in order to understand what the OPA's application is, and also to prepare our cases for -- prepare our case for what exactly we're going to bring to you in hearing.

What we have got in this situation is a summary budget that essentially does not break out -- that essentially only does the entirety of strategic objective 1; in general terms, with respect to compensation, consulting costs, general program costs, and office and administration, with most of the costs in compensation and consulting.  It's not broken out by the key initiative.  And this is important because we want to know what exactly is going on, and what is the money, and what are we getting out of the key initiatives.

And this is important because when you look at the section, at the OPA's evidence, which is subtab C of the motion record, at page 16, local area supply concerns are one of the three key initiatives under strategic objective 1.

And the key point is the underlying sentences where it says:
"In some local areas the needs have already been assessed and a plan has been developed.  These areas are now in the implementation phase.  Examples include Northern York Region, Kitchener-Waterloo-Cambridge-Guelph."

We want to know what they're doing, and we submit that that's important for you to know, in order to be able to protect the interests of consumers, ensure reliability, as well as to assess and determine cost-effectiveness and economic efficiency.

It's also ultimately the reason why we submit these interrogatories, because what we've been able to find are simply these two pages in the evidence and the other materials in this section regarding the strategic objective 1.  And we submit interrogatories to ask more questions and find out what's going on.  And that's why we submitted these 38 interrogatories.

I submit to you that it's particularly important to know what's going on and understand what is happening and what the money is being spent for because -- particularly in light of the response to GEC Interrogatory No. 2.

If I could take you to the last page of Exhibit KM1.1, the supplementary reference book.  This is a copy of Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 2.  GEC and the other organizations affiliated with GEC for this proceeding, asked:
"What programs are planned and what budget is allocated for each program that the OPA intends to pursue in 2008 to address local supply constraints with targeted supply, targeted CDM or a combination?"

The response:
"The OPA uses an integrated solution to address all local area supply constraints.  Resources in these areas all contribute to these integrated solution..."

Which are the same solutions that are in Table 1 of strategic objective 1 as to what's going on.  The key sentence is the next one:
"However the OPA does not budget nor track its time in terms of local area supply projects versus other types of projects."

I submit to you that that raises questions about cost-effectiveness and economic efficiency, which is why we are asking these questions, in order to determine and protect the interests of consumers, promote cost-effectiveness, and promote economic efficiency.

I submit to you that given all of that, and -- the responses to the interrogatories would help us to understand what's going on and what the OPA's actually doing, as well as the results that they are actually doing.  They are spending the money on staff.  What is the staff doing, and what are the results that the staff and consultants are actually ultimately returning with?

Given all of that, I submit to you that it's clearly within the scope of this hearing, and these interrogatory responses should b -- and full and adequate interrogatory responses should be provided.

Now, a couple other minor points.  The OPA in its responses referred to a couple other documents where the answers may be found.  I emphasize the "may."  With respect, the rule -- if the interrogatories are within the scope of this proceeding, the OPA is required by the rules to provide us with the response.  We are not supposed to go searching for needles in potential haystacks for answers that may not even be there.

That is something that has to be done.  That's part of the obligations under this case.

In terms of a practical sense, we'd also need to ensure that we receive the responses in an adequate time in order to allow to us prepare our case in time for hearing.

Now, there may be some comments about the directive.  I'm sort of anticipating a little bit Mr. Cass' comments that may be coming.  There may be some comments about the directive regarding simple cycle gas plant that's come down with respect to northern York Region.

My understanding is that that plant is only going to be in place in 2011.  We are focussing on 2008.  There are issues right now, and that's what we are seeking to investigate and have a look at and determine what's cost-effective and what's going on right now.

When you have a look at the interrogatories, the interrogatories do focus on the 2008 framework.  So that is the focus.  A lot can happen between now and 2011, and we need to determine if there are other things that need to be going on right now, and what the OPA is doing right now, in order to protect the interests of consumers, as well as to promote cost-effectiveness and economic efficiency.

Subject to any questions the Panel may have, those are my submissions.

MS. NOWINA:  We don't have any questions right now, Mr. Alexander.  We may as we hear the responses by others.

Is there anyone who wants to make a submission in support of Mr. Alexander's position?  Mr. Poch?
Submissions by Mr. Poch:


MR. POCH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  We do want to support this motion, and I should just inform the Board, Pollution Probe's and my clients' interests in this proceeding are obviously not at odds with one another, and we've made some effort to allocate the lead on given issues.  I think when we get to the oral hearing, you will see how we would like to continue in that vein.

So we are interested in Pollution Probe's being satisfied in its interrogatory requests.  We are, in effect, relying on some of that effort to make -- support our eventual argument in this case.

I'll try not to repeat what Mr. Alexander has said.  I think the points I'd like to stress are that section 25.21 of the Electricity Act doesn't provide a standard of review.  It says "review."

So it's entirely appropriate to gain guidance on what the standard of review is from section 1 of the OEB Act, which you've already been taken to.

The second point I'd like to make is that while the OPA's procurement costs are deemed to be approved - and that's obviously consistent with the framework where they are procuring pursuant to directives now, and then ultimately in compliance with the OEB's approval of an IPSP, and where the costs of procurement in some cases will be perhaps keyed to market indicators, what have you, whatever the contracts may be; so it's entirely consistent that you are not overseeing the actual contract payments -the act does, that you are reviewing a budget that covers matters, such as the underlying planning effort; the research and development; the administration; the actual execution of the procurements, the transaction costs; and a number of activities that don't fall into the category of procurement, such as the work that OPA is doing to support development of new codes and standards, which obviously are, in a sense, an alternative to procurement.

So all of that is before you and is deserving of proper review.

Now, the OPA is obliged to first get the Minister's approval each year of its business plan, and so I'd just like to deal with that aspect, what implications that has for your review.

Well, first, it must be said that the act requires both that as a first step, and then laying its case before you.  And so, from that, as a matter of statutory interpretation, it seems clear that the Legislature didn't intend for your review to be a cursory review of the business plan as the Minister does, nor for the Minister's review to be the same review that you're going to embark upon.  If it were, we would have just a redundancy.

And, indeed, the business plan is in evidence, Exhibit A9.1.  It's a relatively brief document, which gives -- there's a lot of pros, and then basically in each area, each strategic objective closes with a few bullets of what the OPA proposes to do.

And if you look at examples, for example, on page 15 of that document, you will read phrases describing the objective 2 on CDM, you know:
"We will achieve strategic objective 2 by implementing and managing the 2008 portfolio of conservation programs and identifying a 2009 conservation portfolio that contributes to Ontario's conservation goals."

So, you know, that's the level that that the Minister is dealing with here.  He is looking at, Is OPA -- you know, are they in the right file drawer, as it were?

Your obligation -- your review is, you know, Are they opening the right files?  And I would agree with the submissions you have already heard that it's your practice, and it's an appropriate practice, is to take a middle road in terms of the depth of review.

As you look at what files are being opened, you don't necessarily open each and every file and go through them line by line.  You don't micromanage, if you can avoid it, but you have to be satisfied at some level that they are on track.

Now, how do you do that?  Well, the Board has a great deal of experience in that regard.  You look at their overall approach.  You look at their guiding principles.  You look at the protocols and the controls that they have in place.  But you also have to be able to look at results, certainly in aggregate results, in some cases more detailed results.  And you certainly have to be able to -- and the parties should be able to test by probing examples.

And that's what the interrogatories that Pollution Probe has filed are about.

I would also say it's proper for you to ensure that the activities and the way that OPA is approaching those activities is consistent with the directives, including the anticipated -- the IPSP directive and the plan anticipated to flow from that.  It is appropriate to take that as part of the context, not -- obviously we don't want to get into the IPSP hearing in the context of this proceeding, but we are faced with the situation where that plan really  isn't -- hasn't been approved yet, hasn't been examined yet.

You've got an interim period that this hearing is about, and certainly that suggests, in our respectful submission, that, if anything, the Board's scrutiny should be enhanced at this time, because you don't have the comfort that you'll gain by review of the IPSP, presumably.

In short, the intervenors should be allowed to see, to test, and the Board should have a debate before it to see whether OPA has in fact done their homework.  And to do that, it's appropriate to look at -- in these particular interrogatories, look at two examples on the local supply front, one of which is -- Mr. Alexander has referred to the fact that we've got a period before the particular gas plant that has been directed is going to be in play.

There is a concern about the cost effectiveness of activities in that time, during 2008, but it's also a good illustration, a good example to look at, because the OPA seems to be farther along in that local supply region than in -- than, for example, in Kitchener-Waterloo, which is -- there is no directive and there is no solution imposed.

So I think examination one will also inform whether the approach that OPA is taking in the other is helpful.

So that's our interest in the matter, and those are our comments.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Poch.  Mr. Alexander, I think I have a question for you now, having heard your submissions and Mr. Poch's submissions.  And your submissions were fairly high-level, and so I'd like to ask a specific question.  If we could go to - and this is in your motion record - Pollution Probe Interrogatory No. 2, which is tab D of your record, page 19.

And so that, that interrogatory states:

"Please provide the following for the Northern York Region by year from 2000 to 2007, inclusive:  (a) its total peak day area demand in megawatts; (b) a breakout of its total peak day area demand by LDC..."

And then it gives some examples:
"(c) a breakout of its peak day local area generation and demand response resources; and (d) its net area load in megawatts."

Can you explain to me how this information, if you were to obtain it, would assist you, and exactly what issue regarding OPA's fees and budget it relates to and how material it would be to that, those fees and budgets?

[Counsel confer]


MR. ALEXANDER:  I'll try to answer it as best I can, Madam Chair.

MS. NOWINA:  Fine.

MR. ALEXANDER:  In terms of how this would assist us and what exactly are the issues for this particular interrogatory, it would relate to what exactly is the peak demand and what is going on there, and what is the demand response programs that are currently in place and what is actually being done, and what is the potential, for example, for demand response, and is it appropriate to be doing more in the situation, depending on what the response is.

For example, in terms of the peaksaver program, that's an example of the demand response program, to get an idea of how this relates and to test and understand what's going on.

So it would give us an idea of what's going on right now; what's the potential for things that would be going on, and what may need to be -- what's appropriate, and to ask questions and conduct cross-examination, potentially, on what's appropriate in that situation.

In terms of the materiality of the budget, it's a little bit difficult to determine that at this stage because we need to have these answers first in order to be able to determine that aspect of it, and that's something that would -- that we would expect would follow as part of the cross-examination.

The other part is, is given how the budget is structured, the budget for the entire -- if -- I don't have a copy for you, but the budget is not broken out by initiative.  It's at Table 1 in Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 1, page 6.  It's a high-level budget for the entire strategic objective, not each of the individual initiatives that fall under the strategic objective as well.

MS. NOWINA:  So that makes it difficult for you to assess materiality?

MR. ALEXANDER:  At this stage, yes, and particularly when we don't have the -- and in addition, we don't have the interrogatory responses, which would also assist in determining materiality at this stage.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Alexander, I'm sorry, just on that, did you ask that specific question to further break down the budget so that you can ascertain those numbers?

MR. ALEXANDER:  We did not, but GEC did.

MR. VLAHOS:  Right.

MR. ALEXANDER:  So that was - I can take you to that again - the supplementary reference book, the last page.

And that's question 1.2(b), question (a), what programs are planned and what is the budget allocated.  And then the response is that -- response (a).

MR. POCH:  Madam Chair, if I could also interject and say, just on the question of materiality --


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Poch, we just want to make sure that Mr. Vlahos is finished his question.

MR. VLAHOS:  So the answer is that the OPA does not budget nor track its time in terms of local area supply project.  So then how do your questions link to the amounts of the budget if the OPA does not have that information?

MR. ALEXANDER:  If I could take you -- I've been pointed to a couple other interrogatories for your reference that might assist with that answer as well.

If I could take you to Pollution Probe Interrogatories Nos. 9 and 10, which is in the motion record, tab D, page 26 and page 27.  Actually, Pollution Probe Interrogatory No. 11.  That's page 28 of the motion record.


We ask questions about what are the details of the existing peaksaver contracts with the utilities in questions, so that gets into what is the money, what's the materiality, what are all of the issues, but we need the answer to this.

And in this question we are asking for what they have got, and to use this as a hypothetical, if the answer we get from the first question that was asked, Interrogatory No. 2, it's small, we may then be doing cross-examination and asking questions saying -- before you saying it's appropriate that the budget be appropriately increased.  So that's sort of where we're at with that.

MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  Thank you.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Poch.

MR. POCH:  Madam Chair, I just wanted to say that it may not be at the end of the day, depending on the evidence, possible - and the foreshadowing we're getting from the answer that I got to my interrogatories - it may not be possible to make particularly pointed submissions to you or a recommendation to you with respect to changes in the bottom-line budget.

But I'd just refer to 25.21(2), which is the Board's powers here, and it is that you either approve or refer back to the OPA for further consideration with the Board's recommendation.

So clearly the act contemplates that this isn't a yea or nay, that it's appropriate for the Board -- one of the roles of the Board here is appropriate, to provide guidance to the OPA.  And I would imagine it's more likely in this circumstance that you're going to be -- we're going to be calling upon the Board to provide guidance the OPA to exercise better protocols, better controls, what have you, for the 2008 period, but also for subsequent periods, to inform subsequent periods.

So just on the question of materiality, I want to make sure that the flavour is -- isn't that the flavour is that things are only material if, you know, we can isolate a dollar figure.  If that was the case, OPA would be wise to come with the most de minimus filing they can, not keep any records, and then you're left with the, it's do or die.  But fortunately the Board has other options.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you, Mr. Poch.  Mr. Cass.
Submissions by Mr. Cass:


MR. CASS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I too have a small brief of materials for the Board.  I don't know if it has been passed up yet.

MR. MILLAR:  It hasn't, but I have it here.  We'll give it, subject to any objections, Exhibit No. KM1.2.
EXHIBIT NO. KM1.2:  BRIEF OF MATERIALS FROM MR. CASS

MR. MILLAR:  And I'll have Mr. Wasylyk bring it up.

MR. CASS:  For the purposes of my submissions, Madam Chair, I think the only items I will be referring to are the document just marked as Exhibit KM1.2 and, as well the motion record that Mr. Alexander has been referring to.

My submissions will fall generally into three areas.  The first area that I propose to address is the appropriate scope of the proceeding by reference to the legislation that Mr. Alexander has brought to the Board's attention.  In the context of dealing with the appropriate scope of the proceeding, I will address Mr. Alexander's comments about cost-effectiveness and economic efficiency, which I think seems to be a theme that pervades Pollution Probe's proposed interrogatories.

And after addressing the appropriate scope of the  proceeding, I would like to talk a little bit about the interrogatories when viewed in the context of that appropriate scope.

The third area of my submissions, then, will be some other considerations that I think bear on the relevance and purpose of the interrogatories.

So the starting point for my submissions on the appropriate scope for the proceeding is the same sections of the Electricity Act that Mr. Alexander referred you to.  They are at tab 1 of the brief that I have provided to the Board, Exhibit KM1.2.  The point of my submission, though, will be something quite different from what Mr. Alexander was addressing when he dealt with these sections 25.20 and 25.21.

The point that I wish to stress to the Board -- and this has probably be discussed in previously OPA revenue requirement cases, I'm not sure, but the point is the distinction, a very careful distinction, drawn in this statute between fees and charges.

This appears prominently from section 25.20.  The Board will see in the opening words of subsection (1) of 25.20:
"The OPA may establish and impose fees and charges to recover items described in paragraphs (a) and (b) that follow."

Then later down in subsection (3), the section tells us what these charges are as opposed to the fees.

And in subsection (3), as the Board will see -- it has been highlighted, I believe:
"The charges recover from consumers costs and payments under procurement contracts."

Then in subsection (4), the provision makes very clear:
"These costs and payments related to procurement contracts shall be deemed to be approved by the Board."

So it's these costs and payments under procurement contracts that, in our submission, are clearly not part of this case.  They've not been part of any previous OPA revenue requirement submission.  It's the fees, not the charges, that are at issue here in the revenue requirement case.

Now, just for the sake of the rest of my submissions, I propose to use some terminology -- it may be an oversimplification, but just in an effort to make my submissions more lucid than they would otherwise be.

I submit to the Board that in a general sense, the costs and payments related to procurement contracts, these charges that are not part of the case, one might think of them as project costs.  So these would be the costs actually paid under procurement contracts for parties to carry out particular projects that have been procured.

The distinction to that, then, is what comes under fees.  I think in previous cases we've used terminology like operating costs or operating budget.  Just to make the distinction as clear as I can, for today's purposes I'll refer to what's under fees as organizational costs, or organizational resources or organizational budget.

In our submission, that's what the revenue requirement case is about.  It's not about the particular projects or the particular project costs.  In our submission, it's about the organizational costs, resources, budget that the OPA has put in place or forecasted for the test year to carry out its activities.

To bring this back, then, to the point that has been made about cost-effectiveness and economic efficiency.  In my submission, there is nothing in this case about the cost-effectiveness or economic efficiency of the programs.  In my submission, those are the program costs that are part of charges that are deemed to be approved.

To the extent that there is any issue of this nature, it would relate to the organizational costs.  Has the OPA got the right resources planned and budgeted, the right costs planned and budgeted, for 2008?  It's not -- in my submission, it is clearly not in any way an assessment of the economic efficiency or cost-effectiveness of particular projects or initiatives.

Now, I submit that this approach is clearly reflected in the issues list that the Board approved for this case and that Mr. Alexander has referred to.  That is in the motion record that I said I would refer to.  I believe it can be found at page 10 of the motion record.

The particular issue that Mr. Alexander referred to was issue 1.2.b.  That issue is whether the budget allocated to local area supply and CDM activities is appropriate.  In my submission, the entire issues list is framed in a similar fashion by reference to the budget, and the budget that is being referred to here, again, it's the organizational costs, what I'm referring to for today's purposes as the organizational costs.

It's not the budget that will be -- of monies that would be paid under procurement costs for actual projects.  It's the organizational resources and costs.  And I believe that the issues list is very consistent in framing issues that are presented in the context of that budget.

The other item that Mr. Alexander referred to, and I wanted to, as well, because again I think it is completely consistent with this approach, is the Board's -- this Panel's decision on Issues Day.  The particular part of that that Mr. Alexander referred to is at page 14 of the Pollution Probe motion record.

On page 14, Mr. Alexander took you to the sentence in which the Board said:
"In order to determine if the fees are reasonable, of course, some examination of the costs that make up this fee may be necessary."

Again, it's important to come back to, to think about:  What are the fees, as opposed to the charges?  The fees are a mechanism of recovering this budget of organizational costs.  They are not charges.  They are not recovering the project costs or costs paid under procurement contracts.

So, in my submission, this sentence is completely consistent, and, in fact, reinforcing the point that the OPA is making.  What is in issue here is the fees.  The costs that make up those fees are the organizational costs, and that's what the Board is talking about when it refers to "some examination."

So, yes, it is true that in various places the issues list talks about programs and activities, but, in our submission, the issues list was carefully framed to make sure that whenever it talked about programs and activities, it was always in the context of the 2008 budget, and that is the budget of organizational costs.

So having said that, then, I did want to turn to the nature of the interrogatories.  I will probably say less about this than I would have otherwise, because the Board Panel itself has referred to an example of the interrogatories which is similar to what I would have done.

If I might, just to start out, though, make the point that the Board has been taken to the OPA's response to GEC Interrogatory No. 2.  That's in the supplementary reference book at page 9.  This is, I think, obvious, but I think it's important not to lose sight of the fact that this interrogatory response is not in issue today.  No motion was brought over this interrogatory response.

So, yes, it is true that in paragraph (a) the OPA says:
"It does not budget nor track its time in terms of local area supply projects versus other types of projects."

There has been no follow-up to that.  There has been no motion seeking any further or better answer to this interrogatory.  In my submission, for today's purposes, this is the undisputed evidence on the record, and it should be taken in that fashion.  It does not somehow buttress a submission that some other interrogatory that's not asking a budget question should somehow be answered.

And that is the primary submission that I make about the 38 Pollution Probe interrogatories.  They are not asking budget questions, unlike GEC question 2(a).

Now, as the Board knows, the disputed interrogatories are not all of the Pollution Probe interrogatories.  They are numbers 1 to 38.  These are comprised of 19 interrogatories, most of which are multi-part questions about electricity supply in northern York Region, and then a parallel matching set of 29 -- sorry, 19 interrogatories, also, again, most being multi-part questions, about electricity supply in Kitchener-Waterloo-Cambridge-Guelph.

Now, the other -- another item included in the brief that I have provided and marked as Exhibit KM1.2 is the Minister's directive in relation to northern York Region.  I don't intend to spend a lot of time on it, but just so that the Board is aware of it.  It is at tab 2 of that exhibit.  It was dated January 31st of this year, and it has to do with procurement of generation in northern York Region.

On page 2 of that directive, the Board will see the highlighted portions indicating the Minister's view that it is at that time necessary to proceed with the procurement of approximately 350 megawatts of new gas-fired electricity generation supply for northern York Region.  Then later down on that page, the Minister gives his specific directive that:
"The OPA is to procure a simple, single-cycle gas-fired electricity generation facility with a rated generation capacity of approximately 350 megawatts and not more than 400 megawatts."

So, insofar as northern York Region is concerned, the OPA has been told what to do by the Minister, and in my submission there's nothing within the scope of this case that gives either the OPA or the OEB discretion to change or quibble with the directive from the Minister.

Now, against that background, if I could just speak briefly about the interrogatories in issue that, again, are in the Pollution Probe motion record.

The Board has referred to Pollution Probe's Interrogatory No. 2.  You know, if one were to start at Interrogatory No. 3, which has to do with a similar question to No. 2, only phrased in terms of megawatt-hours instead of megawatts and broken down into multiple parts for northern York Region, covering years 2000 to 2007, in my submission there is nothing in there about organizational costs or organizational budget.  Again, it may be of interest to somebody who wants to pursue questions about the particular project or initiative, but in my submission, that's not what the scope of this case is about, particularly where there's a minister's directive in respect of northern York Region telling the OPA who to do.

And one can go through, in my submission, through all of these interrogatories.  I won't take the time.  But they're all the same.  They do not have to do with organizational costs or organizational budget.  They have to do with Pollution Probe's interest in the general issue of electricity supply in northern York Region and the Kitchener-Waterloo-Cambridge-Guelph area.

This, then, brings me to the third area of my submissions, which I said were some other considerations for the Board to think about.  And for that purpose I wanted to take the Board to tab 3 of the OPA brief.

At tab 3 there are some speaking notes of Mr. Gibbons in relation to the proposed power plant for northern York Region.  I don't propose to spend a lot of time on this.  I've just included it and highlighted a short passage on page 2 of the speaking notes.

The Board can see there an indication that Minister Philips has directed the OPA to contract for at least 350 megawatts of simple-cycle generation.  That is correct, and we have seen that directive.  And Mr. Gibbons expresses a view, as he is perfectly entitled to do, that he believes this to be clearly excessive.  What he urges Aurora to do is ask Minister Phillips to amend his directive.  Again, no question that Mr. Gibbons is entitled to pursue that.

The point, though, is that the issue is with the directive.  Mr. Gibbons clearly does not agree with what the Minister has directed the OPA to do.

In my submission, that's not a matter for this proceeding.  For the purposes of this proceeding, the directives, in my submission, have to be taken as they are, and much as Mr. Gibbons may not like them, in my submission there's nothing that can be done in the context of this proceeding to address that.

Now, at tab 4 of the brief, I have included some further material just to emphasize that this northern York Region issue is one that has developed quite a history of its own, as I think the Board would be aware, and that, you know, Mr. Gibbons has been closely involved in that history.

At tab 4 is the OPA's submission to the Energy Board in the northern York Region proceeding, which was, I believe, EB-2005-0315.  This is just a very few extracts from the northern York Region electricity supply study that was filed in that case.  The extracts include the executive summaries, and at (i) of the executive summary the Board will see that the Ontario Power Authority had developed a recommendation on the best way to meet the growing need for power in York Region and submitted the report to the Board in response to the Board's letter of direction on July 25th, 2005.

Then at the bottom of page numbered (ii), there's a little more -- or I wanted to bring the Board's attention to a little more detail about the OPA's recommendation.  The OPA referred to:

"local generation with a firm capacity of at least 250 MW to 350 MW to meet the bulk supply need."

Then further down in that paragraph:
"Local generation can best be provided by a gas-fuelled, simple-cycle generator which would provide peaking power to both Northern York Region and the rest of the Ontario system."

Then a couple of pages over, I have included small extracts from the Exhibit A consultation report, which was part of this study.  And in particular, page 11 of that consultation report shows that Mr. Gibbons was certainly very much involved in this.  It indicates he was a working group representative on behalf of the Ontario Clean Air Alliance and that he expressed his support for the OPA's proposal.

So, in short, there is a real history to these events that have been going on outside the context of the OPA's revenue requirement case, in quite a different context, and in my submission the Board ought to be very careful to be sure that its revenue requirement case is not used for the purposes of information or objectives that have to do with other things that are going on elsewhere, outside this case.

And then that's the reason for what I've included at tab 5 of the brief.  I've included a number of items here that relate to some questions that Mr. Gibbons asked on behalf of the Ontario Clean Air Alliance.  Much of it's just for context.  I don't intend to go through it all, but I just thought it was important to give the Board a little context.

I just want to refer, in particular, to one item here, and relate it to what is happening in this case.  So at the front of tab 5, the Board will see an e-mail exchange between Mr. Gibbons on behalf of the Ontario Clean Air Alliance and the OPA, and it refers to some questions.

And then there is a document that comes after that that has the questions.  So it refers to the OPA's proposal on page 1; and then skipping over to page 2, there's reference to the OCAA and a series of questions.


And what I would like the Board to do, if you don't mind bearing with me on this, is if you can have that set of questions in front of you, and then if you could also have the motion record in front of you so that we could just quickly see the similarities of what's going on here.

So if you have the motion record and you could start by turning to Pollution Probe Interrogatory No. 7, which is one of the disputed interrogatories before us now.  You will see Pollution Probe Interrogatory No. 7 is:
"Please provide your best estimate of the Northern York Region's electricity demands by end use..."

And so on.  If you look at the second part of the OCAA question, number 1 in the brief:
"Please provide your best estimate of the electricity demands by end use (the same examples as in Pollution Probe Interrogatory No. 7) in the Armitage transformer station area at the time of its 2007 peak demand."

Now, all of these questions in the document, in the brief, refer to the Armitage transformer station area rather than northern York Region, and I'll come back with a little clarification on that.  But if we could just set aside and carry on.

Now, if the Board could look at Pollution Probe Interrogatory No. 9, if you don't mind, and compare that to question number 2 of OCAA in the document that is in the brief, without reading all of the words, question -- Pollution Probe Interrogatory No. 9 is:

"Please state how many megawatts of demand were curtailed in Northern York Region..."

And so on, with four parts to the question.

Question number 2 in the OCAA document, a very similar question, phrased in terms of the Armitage transformer service area.

Same thing if you go to Pollution Probe Interrogatory No. 13 that's in dispute in this proceeding, the number of homes in northern York Region that have central air conditioning.  Compare that to question 3 in the document in the brief:
"How many homes in the Armitage transformer station service area have central air conditioning and have enrolled in peaksaver?"

I don't want how much I need to go on with this.  The similarities are striking.  I can perhaps just give the Board some other comparisons.  

Pollution Probe Interrogatory No. 16 in this case has the same sort of similarity to question number 4 in the OCAA document.  Pollution Probe Interrogatory No. 17 has the same sort of similarity to the question at the end of numbered paragraph 5 in the OCAA document.

Pollution Probe Interrogatory No. 19 has the same similarity to OCAA question 6.  Pollution Probe Interrogatory No. 18 has the same similarity to the question at the end of numbered paragraph 8 in the OCAA document.

And there are others, as well.  Those, I think, are the main examples.

The point of this submission is that there are clearly things going on outside this proceeding that have some history to them, have been going on for a number of years in relation to northern York Region.  In my submission, the Board should be very careful to ensure that the interrogatory process -- that the process of this proceeding is not used for a purpose of getting information that is desired elsewhere and that relates to these other events that are going on outside the revenue requirement case.

Now, admittedly, if these questions were somehow appropriately within the scope of this case, I don't think it would matter that these things are happening elsewhere.  I think it's important for the Board to understand, in the context of the OPA's submission, that these questions are not within the scope of the case, but that they actually are questions that are being pursued in some other context that's entirely outside this case.

That completes my submissions, then, Madam Chair.  Again, we submit that the disputed interrogatories relate to matters that actually are being pursued in a different context than this revenue requirement case, but that, in any event, none of the questions are relevant to the proper scope of a revenue requirement case, because they have nothing to do with the OPA's organizational costs and resources for 2008.  Thank you. 

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Cass, just one question.  Where you distinguish the project costs with respect to the procurement projects and the organizational costs, can those be -- those costs can be delineated in the prefiled evidence, in the OPA's submission?

MR. CASS:  Well, I think in fairness, Mr. Vlahos, the category of costs that I'm calling project costs, they're not even part to have submission, because they've never been part of the Board's review.  So everything that's in the submission -- there may be some reference to project costs, but everything by way of budget that's in the submission is organizational costs.

MR. VLAHOS:  It is only organizational costs?

MR. CASS:  Yes.  Yes.

MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Thank you for that clarification.

MS. NOWINA:  I have a question, as well, Mr. Cass.  You were referring to Pollution Probe's interrogatories, and I did have a question about two of them specifically.

MR. CASS:  Yes.

MS. NOWINA:  And one is Pollution Probe Interrogatory 19, and the other one is a similar one, Pollution Probe Interrogatory 37.

And as they were in the other document that you referred to, these state -- No. 19 states:
"Please state how much money the OPA has spent as of December 31, 2007 to obtain reductions in Northern York Region's electricity demands."

I take it the OPA takes that question not to mean how much money the OPA has spent in its organizational costs?

MR. CASS:  Correct.  That's how we understand the question.

MS. NOWINA:  That's how you interpreted the question?

MR. CASS:  Perhaps that's not the correct interpretation, but, particularly in the context of what all the other questions were, our understanding was that that is a question about costs spent under procurement contracts.

MS. NOWINA:  All right, thank you.  Maybe Mr. Alexander can clarify that when we get back to him.

Is there anyone who wants to make submissions in support of the OPA's position?

Mr. Alexander, we'll go back to you for a response.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Madam Chair, I was wondering if it would be appropriate to take the morning break.  I just want 15 minutes to allow me to consult a little bit.

MR. KAISER:  Yes, we can do that.  We'll break and we'll resume at 10:30.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 10:09 a.m.

--- On resuming at 10:35 a.m. 


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.

MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, I'm sorry, if I might just before Mr. Alexander starts.  I'm sorry for interrupting.  I did neglect to do something that I said I would do in my submissions, which is just to come back to the Armitage transformer station and show the Board the reference to explain what it is.

MS. NOWINA:  You did, Mr. Cass.

MR. CASS:  I don't think a lot turns on it, but I neglected to do that.

At tab 4 of Exhibit KM1.2 is the electricity supply study that was filed in the Board proceeding that I referenced.  And at the first page of the executive summary there's just a bit of a reference to the Armitage transformer station.  So I just want to bring that to the Board's attention so the Board would have an appreciation of what that station is all about.  It's at the beginning of the second paragraph, on the page numbered (i).

The focus for this study, excuse me, was limited to the most urgent areas of need.  The communities served by Armitage transformer station, including the northern portion of York Region and Bradford-West Gwillimbury in Simcoe County, which are referred to as northern York Region.  That was all it was.  Thank you.  And I apologize for interrupting Mr. Alexander.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.  Mr. Alexander.
Further submissions by Mr. Alexander:


MR. ALEXANDER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  In reply, I'd like to ask the Board to take a step back and look at what the Board is ultimately doing in this proceeding.  The Board is being asked to approve a $58 million budget for OPA.  And ultimately, if the OPA is not getting good value for money for the budget, the budget should not be approved.

And the question is, how do we determine good value for budget.  Good value for money.  And I submit to you that from a practical sense and from a reality sense that the only way you can do that is to look at what programs the OPA is doing and to see if they're adequate.


This budget goes into much bigger things that are going on.  It goes on into the planning, the research, and the staff that actually get a lot of this done.  We've chosen to be very focussed and we're pursuing an area where Pollution Probe suspects that this may not be the case; hence, we asked the questions.

If it turns out that there is value for money in these situations, that's great.  If not, then we will be cross-examining and we'll be asking some very -- we'll be asking some questions on it.  But we have an obligation -- but I submit to you that you have an obligation to check into that as part of your probing into whether or not the budget provides good value for money.

I submit to you that the objectives of the Board under section 1(1) still apply in this case.  Hence, you are still there in order to protect the interests of consumers with respect to prices and reliability, as well as with respect to cost-effectiveness and efficiency.  You have to look and see:  Are there bill reductions and security of supply for now, to prevent the blackout -- to prevent potential blackouts and brownouts in 2008.  And the only way we can determine that is to look and see what is actually going on.

And if it turns out that appropriate things are not being done, then you have the power to not approve the budget, provide directions, and, for example, if it turns out that the number of staff is not appropriate, you can provide recommendations about potentially increasing the staff, and increasing the budget as a result of that.  But the only way you can determine that is by actually looking at the results and looking at what's actually going on.

So, as a result, it is my submission that Pollution Probe's interrogatories are thus relevant, because we need to know, for example, what is the amount of peak demand, what is the savings that has occurred, and what is the potential that's occurring, for an example.

So, for example, if as a result of this -- these activities, that one megawatt is being saved out of a total potential of two megawatts, that's probably pretty good.  But if the total potential is a thousand megawatts, that raises some very serious questions about good value for money, which raises questions about whether the Board should provide other recommendations or directions.

Now, with respect to the Ministerial directive, and I talked a little bit about this in my original submissions and I wish to talk a little bit more about it now, it's true that the Minister has issued a directive that Mr. Cass has taken you to, but Pollution Probe is not seeking to challenge that directive here.  That's not the role of this Board.  And it is the best estimate that the plant will not be on-line until 2011.

So, given the precarious supply-demand balance in the northern York Region right now, the question and the focus is on 2008 to prevent blackouts and brownouts now, and to determine if value for money and if the appropriate steps are being done now.

The directive will not solve the problems that are present right now for 2008.

Mr. Cass also took you to some documents regarding the Ontario Clean Air Alliance.  And I wish to note for the record that the Ontario Clean Air Alliance is a separate organization from Pollution Probe.  The question for this Board is:  Are the questions that Pollution Probe are asking relevant and within the scope of this proceeding?  Because we need to get -- because if they are, and Mr. Cass admitted this, they should be on the record here.

Just because the questions are being asked elsewhere doesn't make it irrelevant; the question is is it relevant for this proceeding.  And I submit that it is relevant, in order to fulfill your legislative mandate in accordance with your statutory objectives.

Subject to any questions, those are my reply submissions.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Alexander.

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Alexander, just one area.  I'm trying to understand some of the sort of, the numbers, and put into context what we are talking about.

You may not have the evidence before you, but I don't think you need to turn it up.

We are talking about expenditures related to strategic objective 1, I understand, and which is about $10.4 million in total out of a revenue requirement proposal of I believe $6 or $7 million.  Am I right, sir?  Is this your understanding?

MR. ALEXANDER:  I think that's the ballpark.  That's subject to check.

MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  That's fair.

MR. ALEXANDER:  My understanding is, the total is 58, but I'd have to check the evidence.

MR. VLAHOS:  Yes, 58 which reflects certain generation of revenue, and it may be an update, but in any event.  And I understand from the evidence that the IPSP initiative itself, it's about half of that $10.4 million?  Was that your understanding?

MR. ALEXANDER:  If that's what the -- I believe --

MR. VLAHOS:  Yeah, I believe that's -- I read that $5 million in the evidence, so you have no reason to -- okay.  

And the balance, then, according to the evidence that I read here, is, it relates to the local area supply concerns, as well as work on key policy and regulatory developments that are relevant to power system planning.

So are we talking about -- we're talking about less than $5 million; right?  There's $10.7 million in total for objective 1, of which 5 relates to the IPSP.  So is this what we are talking about in terms of the numbers here?

MR. ALEXANDER:  It may very well be.

MR. VLAHOS:  All right.

MR. ALEXANDER:  I'd have to check the numbers and double-check.

MR. VLAHOS:  Now, you've likened this -- in your opening submissions, you likened this to a typical rates case, where you have a proposed revenue requirement by the utility, and you go through the various components of that revenue requirement, and you make a certain assessment about the reasonableness of the components.

And I guess my question is, there may be an issue around a specific component that makes up the revenue requirement.  You know, take load forecast as an example, okay, where usually there's a lot of argument around, you know, whether it's a reasonable forecast or not.

But that is only a component.  At the end of the day, whatever the assessment may be does not really put into question the reasonableness of the total revenue requirement.


Is that a fair way of approaching this?

MR. ALEXANDER:  Pollution Probe's position would be that there may need to be an increased budget in order to keep the lights on in northern York Region to deal with the other issues associated with the local supply area, or that it may require direction from the Energy Board as a result.

MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  And, again, just going back to a rates case, when the Board approves a revenue requirement, is it your understanding that the Board approves specific components that the utility may not overspend or underspend, or is it more of an envelope approach?

MR. ALEXANDER:  My understanding is that the Board will often tell the utilities to do more studies or give specific directions regarding certain things.  In other cases it approves the overall budget.  I think it depends on the context of the submission.

MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  At the end of the day, I guess the OPA could end up, in the 2008 year, with more expenditures in that specific activity, or less; right?  There's nothing in the revenue requirement decision that would dictate that it can only spend so much and no more.  Do you have a different understanding than that?

MR. ALEXANDER:  I think we have to go back to what the act actually says, is that the Board -- you ultimately decide do you approve the application before you, or do you not approve it and submit it back with recommendations.  So I still think you have the power to suggest changes and recommendations through that power that's given to you through the statute.

MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  Thank you, sir, for those answers.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, everyone.  We believe that we'll be able to give you an oral decision today.  So what we'll do now is break until 12 o'clock and come back and give you an oral decision.

MR. CASS:  Excuse me, Madam Chair.  I'm sorry, I had just intended to put forward an issue about how the hearing will proceed.  Should I wait until the Board comes back to raise that?

MS. NOWINA:  Yes, it might be more appropriate to do it at that point, Mr. Cass.

--- Recess taken at 10:48 a.m. 


--- On resuming at 12:15 p.m. 


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.

DECISION


MS. NOWINA:  The Board sat today to hear a motion by Pollution Probe to require the OPA to provide responses to certain interrogatory requests.  The interrogatories related to local electricity supply in the North York Region and the Kitchener-Waterloo-Cambridge-Guelph regional areas.  Pollution Probe was supported by GEC.


Pollution Probe argued that it was entitled to further details about the OPA's local supply area activities to ensure that it was receiving good value for the money it was proposing to spend on these activities; or rather, to ensure that consumers were receiving good value for the money that was being spent on these activities.


In support of this argument, Pollution Probe cited section 1(1) of the OEB Act and the Board's decision on Issues Day, which stated:

"In order to determine if the OPA's fees are reasonable, of course, some examination of the costs that make up this fee may be necessary."


The OPA argued that it is in fact required to perform much of the local area supply work by a government directive.  In any event, it is the OPA's view that the interrogatories in question relate to the programs and contracts themselves, rather than the organizational expenses that the OPA is seeking to recover through this fees case.  The OPA therefore maintains that the questions are out of scope and they should not be required to be answered.


It was agreed by all parties that in this case the Board's mandate is to review the appropriateness of the fees that the OPA proposes.  These fees cover the operational expenses of the OPA itself.  The actual costs of most OPA programs, including the contracts and many other costs related to local area supply areas, are not recovered through fees, and are not subject to review through this proceeding.


Pollution Probe submitted that the Board had to be satisfied that the fees that the OPA proposed to charge in support of its internal budget represented good value for money.  To the extent that this means the OPA's expenditures of the fees it recovers through this proceeding must be prudent, the Board agrees with this submission.  The Board notes, however, that the items from the OPA's budget relating to the local supply areas is comparatively modest. 


The total budget for objective 1 is $10.4 million.  Of this, approximately $5 million is allocated to the costs of the current IPSP.  The remaining $5.4 million is split between three items:  the initiation of the next IPSP, work on key policy and regulatory initiatives relevant to power system planning, and the local supply areas.


The total OPA budget for the local supply areas is therefore something less than $5.4 million.


It is the Board's view that the disputed interrogatories generally seek to garner information about the scope and effectiveness of the local supply area programs themselves.  These costs, however, are not recovered by the OPA through this proceeding.  While the nature and scope of the actual programs may have some minimal effect on the OPA's internal budget, and therefore its fees, the Board would not be assisted in assessing the reasonableness of the OPA's fees through a detailed review of these programs.


For these reasons, the Board rejects the motion.


That's our decision on the matter of the motion.  


We did want to comment on one other item, and that was in relation to the GEC interrogatory which GEC has not raised a motion on, but the interrogatory 2, GEC Pembina interrogatory 2, to which the OPA responded that it does not budget nor track its time in terms of local area supply projects versus other types of projects.


And we did want to mention that it would be useful for the Board if the OPA could find some way of calculating that information for GEC and for the Board.  And so we will leave that for the OPA to consider.


Are there any questions on our decision before we go to Mr. Cass.  He had something he wanted to address.


Mr. Cass.

Procedural matters:


MR. CASS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  If I may, I just wanted to address how the hearing will proceed in light of the fact that there is no settlement.


I was wondering if, through the Board, it would be possible to invite parties to assist the OPA with the nature of the issues they might pursue or would pursue at the hearing.  The reason for this is to help the OPA decide what witnesses it needs to have there and, with equal importance, what witnesses it may not need to have there.


It's only useful, though, I think, if every party is able to reply in some fashion, because if there's no response from a particular party about the issues it intends to pursue, I guess the OPA has to assume it needs all witnesses there.


So, as a result, I just wondered whether it was possible to invite parties as to whether they can do it, and in a fashion that the OPA could be able to rely on it when it makes decisions about the witnesses that it needs to call for the hearing.


MS. NOWINA:  Before we consider that, Mr. Cass, being ever optimistic, I thought I might also raise the question for the parties in the room, that given our decision on the motion, if there was any possibility of further discussions on settlement.


MR. POCH:  Madam Chair, speaking for myself, I'd have to give it some thought as to whether or not we will have any more luck settling after that.  I would say there was just a very few parties that are active on the settlement discussions, and if it occurs to us that there is a possibility of settlement, then any of us who might propose that and converse with OPA could, of course, alert the other active parties, and it wouldn't be difficult to bring it to the Board prior to any oral hearing in any event.  So I wouldn't -- I'm not suggesting that we preclude that possibility.  I just don't know that it's productive to actually convene any kind of get-together.


And in response to the other -- to Mr. Cass' proposal, in fact, I have had chance to talk to Mr. Cass, and I have already suggested to the parties that were active the other day that they might be prepared to do that because it seemed in everybody's interest to economize and scope this process, and we're certainly prepared to do that.  And so I would support that request, too.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Cass, do you need that to be a formal request through the Board or can you just speak to parties and ascertain their plans?


MR. CASS:  No, I didn't think that it needed to be a formal request through the Board, Madam Chair.  I just thought it was useful to raise it in this forum just to get on the record the concern that the OPA would like as much information as parties can provide in order to be able to plan for witnesses.  


But no formal issuance of anything from the Board is needed.


MS. NOWINA:  And obviously, that would be very helpful to the Board so we have a sense of how many hearing days we need to schedule after you get that information.


MR. POCH:  I was just looking at Mr. Cass, and we're nodding to each other that I would predict if the Board scheduled two days for this case, that would be in the ballpark, assuming that nobody emerges from the forest with some surprise issues.


MS. NOWINA:  Well, that's helpful at this point.  We will at least informally book hearing rooms for two days, because, as you probably are all aware, they're very busy these days.


MR. POCH:  I think the hope was in chatting with counsel over the break that, given that it's a brief hearing, we might be able to get it in before the hearing rooms fill up with OPG and Bruce Essa, and while it's fresh in everybody's head we maybe can deal with it more expeditiously.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  We'll look to attempt to do that.  Mr. Cass, you'll inform the Board as soon as you get more information on what panels you will need to present?


MR. CASS:  Yes, we will, thank you, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Are there any further matters today?  
With that, we are adjourned.  Thank you, everyone.


--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 12:24 p.m.
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